IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

ANDREW THOMPSON, JR.

APPELLANT

vs.

NO. 2007-EC-01989

CHARLES LEWIS JONES

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

W. ELLIS PITTMAN (MB# PITTMAN LAW OFFICE, PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 1670 CLARKSDALE, MISSISSIPPI 38614-1670 PHONE: 601-624-6680 FAX: 601-627-6791

CURT CROWLEY (MB# CONTROL OF CONT

Attorneys for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ISSUE: The trial court erred in setting aside the certified results of the Democratic Primary Election for Coahoma County Sheriff.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Order of the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi, entered on November 5, 2007.

I. Course of Proceedings Below

The Appellee, Charles Lewis Jones (hereinafter "Jones") filed his Amended Election Contest Petition (hereinafter "Petition") on October 9, 2007, in the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi. [R-2] The Petition contested the results of the 2007 Democratic primary election for Coahoma County Sheriff, and the certification thereof by the Coahoma County Democratic Executive Committee. [R-2] Specifically, the Petition alleged that certain absentee ballots were legally defective, and should not have been counted. [R-4] Further, the Petition requested that the election and certification be set aside, and that the Court order a Special Election for the office of Coahoma County Sheriff. [R-9]

The Appellant, Andrew Thompson (hereinafter "Thompson"), filed an Answer to the Petition on October 25, 2007, and generally denied Jones was entitled to any relief whatsoever. [R-50]

Subsequent to Thompson filing his Answer, the parties stipulated to all material facts. This case was tried on October 26, 2007, before the Honorable Frank Vollor, Special Circuit Judge.

After the trial, the Circuit Court of Coahoma County entered an Order which granted Jones' Petition. [R-54]. The Court ordered

that a Special Election be held for the office of Coahoma County Sheriff. [R-54].

Thompson filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court on November 3, 2007. [R-58]

On November 14, 2007, in response to the Court's Order, Governor Haley Barbour issued a Writ of Election, which commanded that the Special Election be held on December 11, 2007. On November 15, 2007, Thompson filed an Emergency Motion to Stay Pending Appeal, with the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court granted this motion on November 30, 2007, and stayed execution of its Order pending a decision on the merits of Thompson's appeal to this Court.

II. Statement of the Facts

The Democratic Primary Election for Coahoma County Sheriff was held on August 7, 2007. [R-54]. Six candidates appeared on the ballot, including Thompson, who was the incumbent, and Jones. [R-54]. On the date of the primary election, 6,234 votes were cast. [R-54] Of these votes, Thompson received 3,110 votes (49.89%), and Jones received 2,000 votes (32.08%). [R-54] In addition to these "regular" ballots, 542 absentee and affidavit votes were cast. [R-54] After tallying the absentee and affidavit ballots, the total results of the primary election were Thompson: 3,339 (50.16%),

¹The parties stipulated to the facts at trial. [R-54] These facts are accurately recited in the Circuit Court's Order of November 5, 2007.

Jones: 2,135 (31.51%). [R-54] Thompson received a majority of the total votes by a margin of eleven (11) votes. The Coahoma County Democratic Executive Committee certified Thompson the winner of the election. [R-54] Accordingly, no runoff election was held. [R-54]

Of the absentee ballots cast, 103 had not been signed by an official authorized to administer oaths for absentee balloting, in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-627 (Supp. 2007). [R-55]. Further, twenty-nine (29) of the absentee voters' envelopes had not been signed by an attesting witness, in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-631 (Supp. 2007). [R-55] Eleven (11) absentee ballots had miscellaneous violations of Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-627 (Supp. 2007), Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-631 (Supp. 2007), and Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-635. [R-55] Some of the ballots had more than one of the aforementioned defects. [R-55] The total number of absentee ballots found by the Circuit Court to be defective was 124. [R-55] These votes were counted and mixed with other ballots, and there was no way to determine which candidates received these votes. [R-55]

The Circuit Court held that the irregularities with the absentee ballots required that the results of the election and the certification thereof be vacated, and a Special Election held. The Circuit Court held:

The Court is of the opinion that there is such a total departure from the fundamental provisions of the election statutes concerning absentee voting as to destroy the integrity of

the election and make it impossible to ascertain the will of the qualified voters. A Special Election is warranted.

[R-54]

It is from this Order Thompson appeals.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in disallowing the subject absentee ballots, and setting aside the results of the election.

The Court has held that the statutory requirements for absentee ballots is mandatory. <u>Straughter v. Collins</u>, 819 So.2d 1244, 1252 (Miss. 2002). These mandatory requirements include:

that the absentee voter must vote his ballot in the presence of an attesting witness, place the ballot in the envelope, and sign the elector's certificate across the flap. The voter and the witness then swear that this process was followed.

Id.

Despite the requirement of strict compliance with the absentee voting statutes, "mere technical irregularities in the casting of a ballot are not grounds for invalidation absent evidence of fraud or intentional wrongdoing." <u>Id</u>. citing <u>Campbell v</u>. Whittington, 733 So.2d 820, 826 (Miss. 1999).

Because there is no evidence of fraud or intentional wrongdoing in this case, the absentee ballots should not have been disallowed for failure to strictly comply with the technical requirements of the statute. In the Court below, Jones and his counsel repeatedly stated that Jones was making no allegations of fraud or intentional wrongdoing on the part of the voters who submitted the ballots, election officials, or Sheriff Thompson.

Due to the absence of evidence, or even an allegation, of fraud or intentional misconduct, the trial court erred in excluding

the ballots, setting aside the election results and ordering a Special Election for the office of Coahoma County Sheriff. The decision of the trial court should be reversed, and judgment rendered in favor of Thompson.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As the parties stipulated to all relevant facts, only questions of law are presented in this appeal. This Court conducts a de novo review of the trial court's rulings on questions of law.

In Re Municipal Boundaries of the City of Southaven, 864 So.2d 912, 917 (Miss. 2003) citing T.T.W. v. C.C., 839 So.2d 501, 503 (Miss. 2003). The Court should reverse the trial court if it finds an erroneous interpretation or application of the law. Id.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SETTING ASIDE THE CERTIFIED RESULTS OF THE DEMOCRATIC PRIMARY ELECTION.

1. Burden of Proof and Standard for Invalidating Election Results

The burden of proof in an election contest is on the Petitioner to show that the election results should be set aside. Boyd v. Tishomingo County Democratic Executive Committee, 912 So.2d 124, 130 (Miss. 2005). To meet his burden of proof, the Petitioner must show either (1) that there were enough illegal votes cast for the contestee to change the result of the election, or (2) "the amount of votes disqualified is substantial enough that it is impossible to discern the will of the voters." Id. quoting Rogers v. Holder, 636 So.2d 645, 648 (Miss. 1994).

As stated *supra*, the challenged absentee ballots were mixed with other ballots. It is, therefore, impossible to ascertain to which candidate the challenged ballots were cast. For this reason,

Jones cannot meet his burden of proof as to the first prong of this alternative test. Therefore, it appears that Jones based his challenge upon the second prong: that the amount of votes disqualified is substantial enough that it is impossible to discern the will of the voters.

2. The Court Erred in Setting Aside the Election Results, as There was No Allegation or Evidence of Fraud or Intentional Misconduct

This Court has held that the statutory requirements for absentee ballots are mandatory. <u>Straughter v. Collins</u>, 819 So.2d at 1252. These mandatory requirements include:

that the absentee voter must vote his ballot in the presence of an attesting witness, place the ballot in the envelope, and sign the elector's certificate across the flap. The voter and the witness then swear that this process was followed.

Id.

"If these mandates are not followed and the integrity of the absentee ballots is questioned, the absentee ballots should not be counted." Id. The Court requires strict compliance with the statutes governing absentee voting. Id. However, despite the mandatory nature of the absentee voting statutes and the requirement of strict compliance therewith, "mere technical irregularities in the casting of a ballot are not grounds for invalidation absent evidence of fraud or intentional wrongdoing." Id. citing Campbell v. Whittington, 733 So.2d 820, 826 (Miss. 1999).

In <u>Wilborn v. Hobson</u>, 608 So.2d 1187 (Miss. 1992), this Court considered the meaning of "mere technical irregularities." In <u>Wilborn</u>, Hobson and Wilborn ran against each other for the position of Supervisor for Hinds County, District 3. <u>Id</u>. at 1187. In the general election, the results were as follows: Hobson-5,321, Wilborn-5,352. <u>Id</u>. Not included in those totals were (a) 27 uninitialed affidavit ballots for Hobson, (b) 1 uninitialed affidavit ballot for Wilborn, (c) 1 "curbside" ballot for Hobson, and (d) 6 affidavit ballots for Hobson which were opened by poll workers. <u>Id</u>. These 35 ballots were disallowed by the Hinds County Election Commission, and Wilborn was certified the winner. <u>Id</u>.

Hobson appealed to the Circuit Court of Hinds County. The Circuit Court reversed the Election Commission, and allowed the 35 ballots at issue. <u>Id</u>. After adding these 35 votes to the count, the Circuit Court declared Hobson the winner of the election. <u>Id</u>. Wilborn appealed to this Court. <u>Id</u>.

This Court affirmed the Circuit Court. With regard to the 27 uninitialed ballots, the Court held that

We have had frequent occasions to appraise the effect of non-conformity with this statute. We have been alert to the danger of rendering inefficient the machinery of nomination by a blind insistence upon absolute and ritualistic conformity with minute detail. A sane and practical relaxation indulged under circumstances where, despite trivial lapses, the voters have expressed their will by lawful ballot is not inconsistent with a rigid requirement that such ballot be lawful.

In determining the effect of irregularities through mistakes of voters and election officials, all statutes limiting the voter in the exercise of his right of suffrage are construed liberally in his favor, in order to ascertain the will of the majority of the voters.

This principle is still sound. If the integrity of a ballot is unquestioned, there is no good reason to disenfranchise a voter for some technical aberration beyond his control.

In the instant case, twenty-eight people cast twenty-eight uninitialed affidavit ballots, presumably for the candidate of their choice. Despite the lack of initialing, those ballots fully reflect the will of the voters who cast them. Of course, if there had been even a hint of unseemliness associated with the ballots at issue, then even a technical irregularity might have rendered them void.

Id. at 1192-93. (internal citations omitted).

The case-at-bar is factually similar to <u>Wilborn</u>. The clear holding of <u>Wilborn</u> is that where there is no evidence of fraud or intentional wrongdoing, ballots should not be disallowed for failure to strictly comply with the technical requirements of the statute. In the Court below, Jones repeatedly stated that he was making no allegation of fraud or intentional wrongdoing on the part of the voters who submitted the ballots, election officials, or Sheriff Thompson. On cross-examination by Thompson's counsel, Jones testified as follows:

Q: [By Mr. Pittman]: And in your petition you're not saying there was any fraud taking place on the part of Sheriff Thompson in the election, are you?

A: [Jones]: My attorneys and I, you know, reviewed the case and I let my attorney handle the rest of it, that part of it.

Q: Well, are you saying that there was some fraud?

A: I'm not saying that.

Q: Okay. And you're not saying that there was any fraud on the part of the Circuit Clerk's Office, are you?

A: No, I'm not.

Q: Okay. And you're not saying that there was any fraud by any of the deputy clerks?

A: No, I'm not.

Q: And certainly you're not saying that the Sheriff committed any willful violation of the voter laws?

A: No, I'm not.

Q: You're not saying that any employees in the Circuit Clerk's Office committed any willful violations of the voter laws?

A: No, I'm not.

. . .

Q: Okay. And you don't know of any fraud that was committed by any of those individuals [absentee voters] in regards to their application, do you?

A: No.

Q: You don't know of any fraud that was committed by anyone that was assisting those 29 people with their applications, do you?

A: No, I don't.

Q: And the same thing for willful violation of the voter laws. You're not testifying that there was any willful violation of the voter laws in regards to those 29 individuals, are you?

A: I can't say.

[Tr. P-61, L-21].

Jones made it crystal-clear in his testimony that he was not claiming, and had no evidence that any person, voter, election officials, or Sheriff Thompson, had committed any fraud in obtaining and submitting the ballots at issue. Jones further unequivocally stated that he was not claiming, and had no evidence, that any person committed any willful violations of the law. In addition to Jones' testimony, no other witnesses testified that any fraudulent or willful misconduct took place as to the absentee ballots. Further, no documentary evidence was produced to support such a conclusion. There was likewise nothing in the circumstances regarding the submission of the absentee ballots which would even raise a mere suspicion that any fraudulent or willful misconduct had taken place.

In accordance with <u>Wilborn</u>, because there was no evidence of fraudulent or willful misconduct, the absentee ballots should have been counted. The trial court erred in excluding the ballots and ordering a Special Election.

VII. CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in setting aside the results of the 2007 Democratic Primary Election for the office of Coahoma County Sheriff. While the absentee ballots at issue did not strictly comply with statutory requirements, said failures were "mere technicalities." Because there were no allegations or evidence of fraud or willful misconduct, the absentee ballots should not have been excluded from the total vote count.

For these reasons, Thompson respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the trial court, and render judgment in his favor.