IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2007-EC-01989

ANDREW THOMPSON, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

CHARLES LEWIS JONES

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COAHOMA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Richard T. Phillips (MB # Parker H. Still (MB # Smith, Phillips, Mitchell, Scott & Nowak, LLP P.O. Drawer 1586 695 Shamrock Drive Batesville, MS 38606 Tel: (662) 563-4613 Fax: (662) 563-1546

Attorneys for Charles Lewis Jones, Appellee

APPELLEE'S STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Examination of the absentee ballots from the Coahoma County Democratic Primary Election in open court by the Court and the Election Commissioners revealed – and the Appellant ultimately <u>stipulated</u> – that 124 ballots, almost one-fourth (1/4) of the total absentee ballots included in the count, were illegal ballots which violated <u>mandatory</u> provisions of Mississippi Absentee Ballot Law. These statutory requirements violated were *mandatory*, not *directory*. Such ballots, under direct statutory mandate and unequivocal pronouncements from this Court, are illegal and must not be counted whether or not there is proof of "actual fraud." The illegal absentee ballots were improperly mixed in with the legal ballots making it impossible to discern the will of the legal voters in the election. Circuit Judge Frank Vollar, appointed by the Court to hear the case with the Coahoma County Election Commission, sitting as the Special Tribunal pursuant to § 23-15-931, found such a total departure from the mandatory requirements of the election statutes concerning absentee voting as to destroy the integrity of the election.

Thompson lacked a majority before the contaminated absentee votes were included in the count. The Tribunal found as a fact, and the Court noted in its opinion, that it is now impossible to segregate the illegal votes from the legal ones or to discern the will of the voters. The Order of November 2, 2007, vacating the certification of Thompson and ordering a special election as statutorily mandated by Miss. Code Section 23-15-937 should be affirmed.

2. As to the second issue presented in this appeal, whether there should be one "special election" as the Special Court deemed contemplated by the statute and prior decisions of this Court, or two, a "special primary" and a "special general" as ordered in the Governor's Writ, the Appellee Jones respectfully joins in the request of the lower Court and Special Tribunal that the Supreme Court address the issue in this appeal and declare whichever procedure it deems appropriate in order that the people of Coahoma County may have the opportunity to hold an election as ordered and elect a Sheriff in accordance with the mandatory balloting and election laws of this State.

\$

!

÷

ė

i

i

i

1

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court will not disturb the findings of fact in an election contest appeal unless those findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Smith v. Hollins*, 905 So.2d 1267, 1270 (Miss. 2005). For questions of law in an election contest, the Court employs a de novo standard of review and will only reverse for an erroneous interpretation or application of the law. *Id.*; and *Boyd v. Tishomingo County Democratic Executive Committee*, 912 So.2d 124, 128 (Miss. 2005).

Under the statutory procedure set forth for Contests of Primary Elections, Miss. Code Ann. §§ 23-15-921, *et seq.*, where the findings of fact have been concurred in by the Election Commissioners in attendance at the hearing, as here, "the facts shall not be subject to appellate review." Miss. Code Ann. §23-15-933. This Court has noted "the manifest legislative intent" of this statute is to facilitate speedy appeals in primary election contests. *Anders v. Longmire*, 226, 215, 83 So.2d 828, 830 (1955). The statute governing such appeals "is obviously designed to expedite the appeals process in an election contest." *Wade v. Williams*, 517 So.2d 573, 576 (Miss. 1987). As this Court stated in *Wade*,: "Our duty is to respect the Special Tribunal's findings and this Court cannot say that the Special Tribunal was manifestly wrong in its determinations." *Id.*, [affirming, holding: "Determination of intent [of voters] is by its very nature a fact inquiry."]

ι

B. THE NUMBER OF ILLEGAL ABSENTEE BALLOTS IMPROPERLY COUNTED WITH THE LEGAL BALLOTS DESTROYED THE INTEGRITY OF THE ELECTION AND MADE IT <u>IMPOSSIBLE TO</u> <u>ASCERTAIN THE WILL OF THE VOTERS.</u>

(1) The Illegal Absentee Votes Violate <u>Mandatory</u> Provisions of the Absentee Ballot Law and Should Not be Counted.

Examination of the absentee ballots by the Court and the Election Commissioners sitting as the Special Tribunal revealed that a total of 124 of the absentee ballots counted by the Coahoma County Democratic Executive Committee (in certifying Appellant by a majority by only 11 votes) violated the <u>mandatory</u> provisions of the Mississippi Absentee Balloting Procedures Law. Such votes are illegal and must not be counted. *Rogers v. Holder*, 636 So.2d 645 (Miss. 1994); *Ruhl v. Walton*, 955 So. 2d 279 (Miss.2007); *Smith v. Hollins*, 905 Sol.2d 1267 (Miss.2005).

Section 23-15-717 of the Absentee Ballot Law requires that an elector applying for an absentee ballot *shall* complete the application as provided in Section 23-15-627. Section 23-15-627 provides that for voters not disabled the Absentee Ballot application *shall* be witnessed by an official authorized to administer oaths. Here it was <u>stipulated</u> that 103 of the absentee ballots which, under the law, should have been signed by an officer authorized to administer oaths, were not so signed. It was also stipulated that those votes were mixed with the other ballots and included in the count. [T. 77-79. Stipulation as to Exhibit E. 103 Absentee Ballots, §23-15-627].

Section 23-15-631 of the Absentee Ballot Law requires that all absentee ballots "*shall* have the attesting witness sign the 'attesting witness certificate' across the flap on back of the envelope." It was <u>stipulated</u> by the Appellant, after examination of the ballots by the Court and the Election Tribunal, that Exhibit F contains a list of 29 absentee ballot voters whose envelopes

were not signed by an authorized attesting witness as required by 23-15-631. [T-79. Stipulation as to Exhibit F. 29 Absentee Ballots, §23-15-631].

Sections 23-15-627, 23-15-631 and 23-15-635, have <u>mandatory</u> requirements which were violated by the eleven voters on Exhibit H whose votes were similarly included in the count. After examination of the boxes at the hearing, the Appellant <u>stipulated</u> that those absentee votes "either have no application, [were] not witnessed as required by statute, or were not in compliance with the statutes." [T-79. Stipulation as to Exhibit H. 11 Absentee Ballots, §§23-15-627; 23-15-631; and 23-15-635].

The specific provisions of the Absentee Balloting Procedures Law violated here, Sections 23-15-627, 23-15-631 and 23-15-635, are mandatory requirements intended to ensure the integrity of absentee ballots. *Rogers v. Holder*, 636 So.2d 645, 649. (Miss.1994). Violation of those mandatory requirements renders absentee votes illegal. *Id.* at 649-650. Votes not in compliance with these mandatory provisions of the election statutes are illegal and must not be counted. *Ruhl v. Walton*, 955 So. 2d 279, 282 (Miss.2007).

In *Rogers* this Court addressed the requirements of §§ 23-15-717 and 23-15-627 for the signature of an attesting witness on absentee ballot applications. The provision was found <u>mandatory</u> because it is intended to ensure the integrity of the absentee ballot. *Rogers* at 649. The §23-15-635 certificate by an attesting witness on the absentee ballot envelope is likewise mandatory. ["The provisions of §23-15-635 (1972) are also mandatory because intended to ensure the integrity of the absentee ballot."] *Id*.

As the Court explained in Rogers:

"Absentee paper ballots, unlike machine votes, are particularly amenable to fraud; the detailed procedures outlined in the statutes at issue here are designed to protect against fraudulent votes and ensure that absentee ballots actually reflect the will of the voters who cast them. It appears that the Special Tribunal was correct in concluding §§ 23-15-717, 23-15-627, 23-15-715, 23-15-719, and 23-15-635 are mandatory in nature . . . It follows that votes not in compliance with these statutes are illegal."

Rogers v. Holder, 636 So.2d 645, 649-50 (Miss.1994).

"Votes not in compliance with mandatory provisions of election statutes are illegal.

Votes illegally cast are improperly counted." Id. at 648; Ruhl v. Walton, 955 So. 2d 279, 282

(Miss.2007). The solid public policy underlying this rule, the potential problem that absentee

ballots present to the integrity of the electoral process, has been repeatedly stated by this Court:

"As opposed to voting at the polls, in a public setting where the integrity of the election process can be ensured, absentee voting takes place in a private setting where the opportunity for fraud is greater. To ensure the integrity of the election process through absentee voting, the legislature has seen fit to provide other safeguards. <u>These provisions are mandatory</u>. *Campbell v. Whittington*, 733 So.2d 820, 827 (Miss.1999)." [Emphasis added.]

Straughter v. Collins, 819 So.2d 1244, 1252 (Miss.2002).

Discussing the precise requirements at issue here, the Court continued in Straughter:

"Under Miss.Code Ann. § 23-15-635 (Rev.1990), the absent voter must vote his ballot in the presence of an attesting witness, place the ballot in the envelope, and sign the elector's certificate across the flap. The voter and the witness then swear that this process was followed. These safeguards are all that ensure the integrity of the absentee ballot process. If these mandates are not followed and the integrity of the absentee ballots is questioned, the absentee ballots should not be counted. 733 So.2d at 827 (citations omitted)."

Id.

ł

ì

Ĺ

İ.

In the present case, the Court and Election Commissioners sitting as the Special Tribunal found that almost one-fourth (1/4) of all absentee votes counted in the August 2007 Coahoma County Democratic Primary race for Sheriff were illegal ballots. (Tab 1, ARE, R. 56). The Court at the Special Tribunal correctly followed this Court's directions in declaring illegal the124 votes cast in violation of the mandatory statutory requirements but included in the count by the County Committee. As this Court stated in *Straughter v. Collins*:

"It is imperative that the appropriate elected officials strictly adhere to the statutes concerning absentee ballots. <u>Recent elections appear</u> to have had wholesale disregard for the law regulating the use of <u>absentee ballots</u>. This Court, where called on to do so, will require strict compliance and *we call on others to do likewise*."

Straughter v. Collins, 819 So.2d, 1244, 1252 (Miss.2002), [Emphasis added.]

1

ł

İ

i.

(2) Votes Out of Compliance with <u>Mandatory</u> Requirements of the Absentee Ballot Law Are Illegal and Not Counted Regardless of Fraud.

Thompson's only argument, and the sole issue he presents on appeal, is that the Court erred in disallowing the absentee ballots because there was no proof of "actual fraud." The Court erred in ordering a run-off, argues the Appellant at page 10 of his brief, "as there was no allegation or evidence of fraud or intentional misconduct." Appellant would be correct in his assertion if the statutes violated were *directory* in nature and not *mandatory*. Absentee ballots such as those here, however, which lack the <u>mandatory</u> certifications required by Sections 25-15-627 and 635 of the Absentee Balloting Procedures Law, are illegal and must not be counted regardless of whether there is proof of actual fraud. *Ruhl v. Walton*, 955 So.2d 279, 282 (Miss. 2007); *Rogers v. Holder*, 636 So.2d 645, 647-48 (1994).

The distinction between *directory* and *mandatory* election statutes was expressly

addressed in Ruhl v. Walton. "Stated succinctly," said the Court:

"[i]f the violated statute is *directory* rather than *mandatory* and there is no allegation or proof of fraud, the non-complying ballots are valid and properly counted. *Riley v. Clayton*, 441 So.2d [1322,] 1328 (Miss.1983). Votes *not* in compliance with *mandatory* provisions of election statutes are *illegal*. Votes illegally cast are improperly counted. *Hatcher v. Fleeman*, 617 So.2d 634, 640-41 (Miss.1993)." [Emphasis by the Court.]

Ruhl v. Walton, 955 So.2d 279, 282 (Miss. 2007). To precisely the same effect is *Rogers v. Holder*, 636 So.2d 645, 648 (1994).

Absentee ballots lacking the mandatory certifications required by Section 25-15-635 of

the Absentee Balloting Procedures Law, as do the 124 ballots here, are illegal and not to be

counted regardless of whether there are allegations or proof of actual fraud. Id. As the Court

explained in *Ruhl*:

ι

.

ł

i

į

ļ

"Miss.Code Ann. Section 23-15-635 has been deemed *mandatory* because "[a]bsentee paper ballots ... are particularly amenable to fraud; the detailed procedures outlined ... are designed to protect against fraudulent cotes and ensure that absentee ballots actually reflect the will of the voters who cast them." *Id.* at 649. In short, Miss.Code Ann. Section 23-15-635 is mandatory because the potential for illicit voting activity exponentially increases when the light of truth does not illuminate the voting booth. Therefore, all mail-in absentee ballots cast in violation of Miss.Code Ann. Section 23-15-635 were *illegal* and properly rejected by the court."

Ruhl v. Walton, 955 So.2d 279, 282 (Miss.2007).

Appellant's reliance on Wilbourn v. Hobson, 608 So.2d 1187 (Miss.1992) for his

assertion that such violations of the Absentee Balloting Laws are "mere technicalities" is

misplaced. "In accordance with Wilbourn," the Appellant asserts, "because there was no

evidence of fraudulent or willful misconduct, the absentee ballots should have been counted."

Appellant's Brief, p. 14. Thompson rests his assertion on his erroneous premise that "The case-

at-hand is factually similar to Wilbourn." Appellant's Brief, p. 12.

Wilbourn is <u>not</u> factually similar to the case at hand. At issue in *Wilbourn* were *affidavit* ballots voted in person *at the polls*. *Wilbourn* did not involve absentee ballots voted in violation of the Absentee Balloting Procedures law. This outcome-determinative distinction was addressed in *Campbell v. Whittington*, 733 So.2d 820 (Miss.1999). Discussing the distinction between mere "technical irregularities" or "trivial lapses" with regard to ballots *voted in person at the polls*, such as those in *Wilbourn*, and violations of the mandatory requirements for absentee voting, the Court in *Campbell* noted:

"The case *sub judice* is distinguishable from *Wilbourn* for several reasons. *Wilbourn* involved a challenge to <u>affidavit</u> ballots which are cast at the polls on election day. Here the dispute involves absentee ballots cast away from the polls and prior to election day. [C]ontested [here is] the validity and integrity of the <u>absentee</u> ballots."

Campbell v. Whittington, 733 So.2d 820, 826 (Miss.1999).

"There are valid reasons," said the Court why exceptions to the requirements for voting in

person at the polls "should not be applied in the absentee voting setting." Id. at 827.

Distinguishing the situations, the Court explained:

"As opposed to voting at the polls, in a public setting where the integrity of the election process can be ensured, absentee voting takes place in a private setting where the opportunity for fraud is greater." *Id*.

Addressing the absentee ballot violations at issue here, the Court continued:

"To ensure the integrity of the election process through <u>absentee</u> <u>voting</u>, the legislature has seen fit to provide other safeguards. These provisions are <u>mandatory</u>. *Rogers v. Holder*, 636 So.2d 645, 649 (Miss., 1994). Under Miss.Code Ann. § 23-15-635 (Rev.1990) the absent voter <u>must</u> vote his ballot in the presence of an attesting witness, place the ballot in the envelope, and sign the elector's certificate across the flap. The voter and the witness then swear that this process was followed. These safeguards are all that ensure the integrity of the absentee ballot process. *McFarland*, 707 So.2d at 179. If these mandates are not followed and the integrity of the absentee ballots is questioned, the absentee ballots should not be counted." [Emphasis added.]

Campbell v. Whittington, 733 So.2d 820, 827 (Miss. 1999).

Not every election contest is a personal vendetta with allegations of fraudulent conduct by

the opposing candidate, as are many these days. The situation here is similar to that recently

noted by this Court in Boyd v. Tishomingo County Democratic Executive Committee, 912 So.2d

124, 134 (Miss.2005):

"The real issue presented by this and many other election contests we routinely deal with is <u>a flawed and failed absentee ballot</u> <u>process</u>. The privilege of voting by absentee ballot is created by Miss.Code Ann. § 23-15-621 (Rev.2001), and those administering elections must strictly conform to statutory requirements." *Id.* [Emphasis added.]

Absence of proof of actual fraud does not obviate the fact that absentee ballots voted in violation of the <u>mandatory</u> requirements of the Absentee Ballot Law are illegal and must not have been counted. A special election is required, where, as here, almost one-fourth (1/4) of all absentee ballots voted (far more than necessary to require a run-off in light of the eleven-vote majority certified), were counted in violation of the law making it impossible to ascertain the will of the voters.

(3) It Is Now Impossible to Ascertain the Will of the Voters who Cast Legal Absentee Ballots and a Special Election is Required.

When an election is successfully contested, the Court employs an alternative two-pronged test to determine whether a special election (or as here, a special run-off election) is warranted. Boyd v. Tishomingo County Democratic Executive Committee, 912 So.2d 124, 130 (Miss.2005); Noxubee County Democratic Executive Committee v. Russell, 443 So.2d 1191, 1197

(Miss.1983). In such a situation "a special election will be required if <u>either</u> (1) enough illegal votes were cast for the contestee to change the election result <u>or</u> (2) the amount of votes disqualified is substantial enough that it is impossible to discern the will of the voters." *Boyd*, *supra* at 130 [emphasis added]. Here, as a result of the handling of the Absentee Ballots, it is impossible to discern the will of the voters who cast legal absentee ballots. Without those votes there is no majority and a special run-off election is required.

Public examination of the absentee ballots here showed almost one-fourth (1/4) of the absentee ballots counted by the Committee were illegal. The Appellant <u>stipulated</u> that 124 votes which failed to comply with the mandatory absentee balloting statutes were mixed in and counted with the legal votes. There is now no way to tell which candidates these votes went to. [Order, Tab 1 ARE, R. 55]. The finders of fact, *i.e.*, the Special Court and the County Election Commissioners sitting as Special Tribunal pursuant to the Election Statutes, found "such a total departure for the fundamental provisions of the election statutes concerning absentee voting as to destroy the integrity of the election and make it impossible to ascertain the will of the qualified voters." *Id* at 54.

L

Ł

Thompson lacked a majority before the contaminated absentee votes were included in the count. It is now impossible to segregate the illegal votes from the legal ones. *Id* at 56. The Tribunal found as a fact, and the Court noted in its opinion, that it is now impossible to discern the will of the voters. No candidate has received a majority of the votes, and a run-off between Jones and Thompson is required.

i .

i

1

i

ί.

i

C. Are TWO Special Elections Required? A "Special Primary Election" and a "Special General Election"?

The Special Court and Tribunal found as a fact that it is impossible to discern the will of the voters in the August 2007 race for Sheriff of Coahoma County. The Court ordered that the certification of Thompson as the Democratic Candidate should be set aside and that a special election is statutorily mandated by Miss. Code Section 23-15-937. (Tab1, ARE; R. 56) The November 2, 2007 Order ordered that the certification of Thompson as the Democratic Candidate "is hereby vacated and the Governor of the State of Mississippi shall call a special election for the Office of Sheriff of Coahoma County." *Id.*

On November 14, 2007, Governor Haley Barbour issued his Writ of Election to the Election Commissioners of Coahoma County, in accordance with the order that he, as Governor, "call such election pursuant to the authority granted to me under Section 23-15-937, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended." (Tab 6, ARE; R. 65). The Governor ordered that there be a "special primary run-off election" to be held on December 11, 2007, and that "all relevant state laws not in conflict with the terms of this Writ of Election shall apply to this special primary run-off election." *Id.* The November 14, 2007 Writ of Election from the Governor went on to state:

22

"The winner of the special democratic primary run-off election held on December 11, 2007 shall face the previously qualified independent candidate in a special general election for the Office of Sheriff of Coahoma County, which election I hereby set to take place on January 8, 2008." (Tab 6, ARE; R. 65).

Using question of whether there should be both a "special general election" and a "special primary election" as ordered in the Governor's Writ, the Appellant Thompson filed an "Emergency Motion to Stay Execution Pending Appeal" seeking a stay of the special run-off election ordered by the Court. (Tab 7, ARE; R.66-70). A hearing on the motion was held by Judge Vollor on November 29, 2007. As announced by the Court at the hearing, and noted in his Order of November 30, 2007, the Court contacted the offices of the Governor, the Attorney General and the Secretary of State, giving each notice of the hearing, and inviting the respective offices to send counsel to be heard on this issue, but each declined to appear. (Tab 8 ARE; R. 76).

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